

ARCHAEOLOGY

Academic Activities

ANTIOCH (GENERAL)

Committee for the Excavation of Antioch and its Vicinity:

XXI

Balto Museum of Art
Musees Nationaux de France
Dumbarton Oaks (affiliated with Fogg Museum)
Princeton University
Worcester Art Museum

D, Morey

✓ ARCHAEOLOGY

Academic Activities

ANTIOCH (GENERAL)

Committee for the Excavation of Antioch and its Vicinity:

XXI

- × Balto Museum of Art
- Musees Nationaux de France
- Dumbarton Oaks (affiliated with Fogg Museum)
- Princeton University
- × Worcester Art Museum

× Dropped ref about 1936 or 7. See Vol. III Antioch.

D, Morey

1930-1950

✓ ARCHEOLOGY (MIDDLE AMERICAN)

PRINCETON UNIVERSITY

LIBRARY

SCHOOL OF HUMANISTIC STUDIES

GARRETT, ROBERT

~~BOYD~~ BOYD, JULIAN P.

OPPENHEIMER, ROBERT

Academic Activities

Relations WOAI

Facilities

Academic Organization

Biographical

As a result of Oppenheimer's acceptance of Miss Sach's recommendation May 23, 1949, the collection was turned over to Princeton Library during Mr. Boyd's absence:

"While I was away last summer, Mr. Heyl, Associate Librarian, acknowledged the 'gift' of the Mayan manuscripts presented to the Institute by Mr. Robert Garrett. Inasmuch

as Mr. Garrett gave these manuscripts to the Institute with a reversionary condition, I am sure you will agree that they should be recorded as a gift from Mr. Garrett rather than from the Institute. I am, therefore, correcting our records to indicate this.

"I have recently had a letter from Mr. Garrett in which he apparently assumed that the manuscripts were still at the Institute. I told him about our conversation and about the subsequent transfer of the collection. I also apologized for both of us, assuring him that you had assumed I would inform him, and I had assumed he already knew about it, so that niether of us did anything about it. It doesn't really matter, ~~xxx~~ except that Mr. Garrett is the kind of man who likes to be informed."

This is a sad end to a very intensive correspondence between Gates and Flexner, and between McComas, Garrett, and Aydelotte about the main Gates collection which was ultimately purchased by the Brigham Young University, Provo, Utah, in October, 1946, leaving somewhat over \$11,500 worth of still very valuable, unique and useable material for sale.

(Charles A. Musas to Aydelotte, October 25, 1946, *ibid.*)

Copies of letters of May 23, 1949 from Miss Sachs to Oppenheimer, and September 14, 1944, from Aydelotte to McComas, are filed in Chronological file with this memorandum under 1930-1950.

D File, Garrett, Robert - Gates Collection

1931-1932

MORSE, G. H. (Professor, Princeton University)

Biographical

PRINCETON UNIVERSITY

Relations WPAI

SCHOOL OF HUMANISTIC STUDIES

Academic Organization

✓ ARCHAEOLOGY

Academic Activities

HISTORY OF ART

No.

As early as February, 1931, Professor Morse was soliciting attention from Flexner on his School's suggestions for broader training and also a Princeton Faculty group's efforts to secure a new library for Princeton University. The group which signed the undated memorandum asking for a program for a humanistic library for Princeton includes the following: William S. Carpenter, James F. Gerould, C. Johnson, David McCabe, Allen W. C. Messies, Sherley W. Morgan, E. Baldwin Smith, Chairman, ~~Raymond J. Seontag~~ Raymond J. Seontag, Duncie R. Stuart, Frederick C. Tarr, Willard Thorp. Flexner replies February 20, 1931, and says he is well aware that he has matters to discuss with Dr. Morse but that he is going abroad.

April 9, 1934, Morey to Flexner. This follows a conversation had earlier. The letter is the potentiality of the Princeton group working on archeology and the history of art, and the plans for the department which are included in a lengthy memorandum which includes also an account of the status in 1932 of research of art and archeology in Princeton. The plans for possible expansion in the research group and the need for personnel are outlined together with a discussion of research facilities. These are in the files.

Again Flexner went to Europe (June, 1934), but there is little doubt that in the year intervening between the first letter in June, 1934, the two men have seen much of each other and have done a great deal of planning. The file from this point on largely concerns itself with the efforts which they made to shorten Panofsky's term at New York University (he had a year and a half to serve in June, 1934) with the idea of getting him to Princeton.

Other personnel is mentioned which is being recruited by one or the other of the two groups. For instance, Weitzmann,

Schlunk, Huntington, Harold Willoughby, Keck, Schweitzer, Helen Franc at Wellesly, David M. Rebb, associate professor at Colgate (all of these are mentioned in a letter from Flexner to Morey, June 10, 1935).

The Institute appropriated \$6,000 for the work of Schlunk and Weitsmann in this country.

This was on a project as stated by both Morey and Flexner and by Esther Bailey (see letter May 22, 1935). The two young scholars had been engaged in making a survey of the resources of the field of humanism from New York to Washington. Their work will take another year (1935-1936) and the budget should contain the proper amount of work.

Morey to Flexner, June 6, 1935.

See file further.

1932

10/11

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

MERITT, B.

Biographical

CAPPS, EDWARD

FLEXNER, A.

Capps to Flexner, October 11, 1932. Thinks that Meritt is being "used up" in his youth, working too hard. He wants to see Meritt head of the Department of History and Archeology in the Institute. "Seriously I believe that archeology as a part of history is one of the subjects that can be most successfully prosecuted on the higher levels of research in this country, and that such stimulus to research in that field is greatly needed here. Conducting excavations alone is all right if the excavator is trained to his job, but exploring finds can be terribly superficial and will generally be so unless the scholar in question is imbued with the historical spirit from first to last and thoroughly grounded in his department of history. The bad tendency in archeology over here today is to be attached to a department devoted to the history of art, and

thus to be divorced almost completely from its chief background
of history."

D, Capps, Edward

1934

4/9

SCHOOL OF HUMANISTIC STUDIES

Academic Organization

ARCHAEOLOGY

Academic Activities

HISTORY OF ART

MOREY, C. R.

Biographical

PRINCETON

Relations WOAI

C. R. Morey, April 9, 1934, to Flexner.

A long letter extending into April 10, and enclosing the mimeographed statement, "The Future of the Department of Art and Archeology", Princeton University, issued by the department in 1932. His letter also gives a statement of research projects at present under way in the department, and also three drawings showing the proposed ~~amendment~~ remodelling of McCormick Hall to provide further research facilities.

III-24

1934

6/28

SCHOOL OF HUMANISTIC STUDIES

Academic Organization

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

HISTORY OF ART

PRINCETON

Relations WOAI

MOREY, C. R.

Biographical

FLEXNER, A.

SCHLUNK

WEITZMANN

PANOFSKY

Flexner to Morey from London, June 28, 1934, commenting on his inability to do anything for Schlunk and Weitzmann, ~~but~~ but mentioning an interesting conversation with Panofsky. "It seems to me clear that we must be most punctilious in helping him to carry out his engagements with New York University both for his sake and because of ultimate possibilities therein which I can explain to you when I see you in the fall."

III-24

1935-45

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

MERITT, B. D.

Biographical

See Director's File, B. D. Meritt, for extensive correspondence
by Meritt on activities in Athens and excavations of the Agora.

D File, Benjamin Meritt

SCHOOL OF HUMANISTIC STUDIES
SCHLUSK, HELMUT
WEITSMANN, KURT
✓ ARCHAEOLOGY (ANTIOCH)
PRINCETON UNIVERSITY

Academic Organization
Biographical

Academic Activities
Relations w.o.a.i.

Letter from C.R. Moray to Flannery:

"This letter is in pursuance of the conversation we had last Wednesday relative to the continuance of the grant made by the Institute for Advanced Study which so effectively promoted two projects of research in archaeology at Princeton during the year 1934-35, and enabled us to secure the services of Helmut Schlusk and his especial knowledge of Visigothic architecture in Spain, and of Kurt Weitsmann for the furtherance of the project of Professor Friend and the Index of Christian Art for the publication of the illustration of the Old Testament in Greek manuscripts.

"We are faced with a somewhat difficult situation, in 1935-36, relative to the working up of the final publication of the results of the Antioch dig, whose first concession term terminates Dec. 31, 1936. To do this properly we must provide the field workers an opportunity to do the research supplementary to their field-notes, and afford also the opportunity to Glenville Moray, at present librarian of the American School at Athens, to be relieved for a term from his duties and financed for the completion of his very fine work on the sources for the history and topography of Antioch, - a job he can't do very well in his

present location and position.

"As I said in our conversation, this could be done very well on a two-year continuation of the \$6000 annual grant made by the Institute in the case of Schlunk and Weitzmann.

"***

"I need not say how much this cooperation would be appreciated nor how grateful we are for helping us out with Schlunk and Weitzmann. If your Board can see its way to continuing the cooperation until the wind-up of this first campaign at Antioch, I feel sure that it will see in the result something that will justify the expenditure in the fullest degree."

File III-24

7/20
8/2

PRINCETON UNIVERSITY
SCHOOL OF HEBREW AND SEMITIC STUDIES
SCHLUNK, HEINRICH
WEITMANN, HUBERT
✓ ARCHAEOLOGY (ANTIOCH)

Relations W.O.A.I.
Academic Organization
Biographical

Academic Activities

Memo from C.R. Moray (Princ. Univ.) to Dr. Flemer concerning grant of \$6000 made by IAS to H. Schlunk and H. Weitmann. Schlunk has accepted a post as Curator of Mediaeval Antiquities in the Deutsches Museum in Berlin and Moray is writing for Flemer's permission to divide his grant and give \$1300 to F. " " Robinson for work on the catalogue of the Byzantine Originians, and \$1700 to the committee on the excavation of Antioch for the expenses of the 1935 campaign.

Moray writes to Flemer on Aug. 2 thanking him for the help the IAS was able to give the Expedition at Antioch and for the grant to Robinson.

File III-34

1935

8/26

SCHOOL OF THE HUMANITIES

Academic Organization

ART

Academic Activities

✓ARCHAEOLOGY

PANOFSKY

Biographical

MERRITT, B.

61-6135

Flexner to Hamus (Cambridge, Mass.) referring to Hamus' letter of July 19, 1935 defining humanities (see memorandum 1930-35, School of Economics & Politics, etc., excerpts from File II-35).

"Your letter of the 19th is not so very far off from what is in my mind in the development of the humanities. For the time being I suspect that the philological side of the language and literature is pretty well worked out. At any rate it is being done in so many different places that there is no need of our touching it. I have made no comprehensive plans, but I am proceeding, as I have proceeded in other schools, by picking up outstanding ~~xxx~~ individuals when they have become available.

"Only two appointments have been made: one in the field of art and in the field of archeology. During the two years at Princeton I have had the privilege from time to

time of seeing Panofsky, who had been dropped from the University of Hamburg and given a temporary appointment in New York University while living in Princeton and giving an occasional lecture there. He is a Kunst Historiker of the highest calibre with a marvelous acquaintance with history and literature in almost every imaginable field. I know that the Harvard people would have been glad to have him if they could have done so, and I have had very cordial expressions of congratulations from the Fogg Museum folks.

"The other appointment is that of a young Hellenist in the middle thirties, who, unless I missed my guess, is destined to contribute largely to the rewriting of ancient history. Archeology is indeed as alive as physics. The excavations going on in the Agora at Antioch and Persepolis and in the Nile valley are going to make it possible to reconceive the whole history of civilization. This next autumn Meritt will spend not in Princeton but partly in Oxford and Athens where he has already spent several years. He comes to us from the Johns Hopkins where he has been filling the chair left vacant by the retirement and death of Gildersleeve.

"You see I have made a beginning in two of the subdivisions which you have mentioned, and as our resources increase, I shall go forward further. Education, one of the subjects which has been in my mind, not in the technical sense in which it is pursued at Teacher's College of the Harvard School, but in the philosophical and historical sense; but doing something in this field depends upon finding a man and having the money."

9/30
10/2

1935

PRINCETON UNIVERSITY
✓ARCHAEOLOGY (Islamic)
HERZFELD
MOREY, C.R.

Relations W.O.A.I.
Academic Activities
Biographical

C.R.MOREY to Fleisner:

"...It would be very nice indeed to have Herzfeld giving a seminar down here for the benefit of all the students but if we have to reduce to the minimum, it seems to me that Glidden is the minimum, whether he works here in Princeton with Herzfeld or in New York.

"...Some of these men are not worth carrying on but Starr seems to belong to the group that should be carried on. The real problem is what we are going to do with the men after they get the training such as Starr is trying to get in Islamic languages and literature..."

Fleisner to Morey:

"I am to see Mr. Straus on Friday and shall talk with him about the possibilities of bringing Herzfeld over."

File III-24

1936

ARCHAEOLOGY (TARSUS)

HARVARD

GOLDMAN, HETTY

SACHS, PAUL

Academic Activities

Relations WOI

Biographical

Goldman to Sachs.

A letter withdrawing her tender of resignation as Director of the excavations at Tarsus and an enumeration of points justifying further work at Tarsus for the enlistment of financial aid.

D File, Goldman, Hetty, 1936-1944

1936

1/13

/ARCHEOLOGY (ANTIOCH)

Academic Activities

PRINCETON UNIVERSITY

Relations WOI

PERLMAN, PHILIP B.

Biographical

Bamberger to Flexner, 1/14/36 enclosing copy letter
from Philip B. Perlman complimenting Bamberger for work in
Humanities at I. A. S. Committee on Antioch: chaired by
Francis Tayloe of Worcester; 3 institutions responsible were
Princeton, Worcester and Balto Art Museum.

D, Bamberger, L.

1936

1/27

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

PALEOGRAPHY

CAMPBELL, W. A.

LOWE, E. A.

HERZFELD, ERNST

Academic Activities

Academic Activities

Biographical

The Director reports that he has conferred with the Executive Committee and was authorized to increase the estimated expenditures from \$250,000 to \$265,000 for the purpose of offering Professor E. A. Lowe, greatest of living latin paleographers, now professor at the University of Oxford, a professorship at the Institute. The biographical sketch states that Lowe is an American by birth but has received education abroad. Lowe has accepted. The Carnegie Institution at Washington is willing to make a substantial appropriation toward his expenses. The librarian of the Morgan Library, Miss Belle Greene, has volunteered to put treasures of the Morgan Library at Lowe's disposal.

Lowe is preparing an important work ultimately to be issued by the Clarendon Press in 10 volumes, two of which have been published. The Clarendon Press is contributing one-third toward the total cost and the remainder of the money needed has been secured and is now in the hands of the Clarendon Press.

Also the Director recommends that a professorship should be offered to W. A. Campbell who has been field director of the excavations at Antioch and who through Professor Morey of Princeton University the Director understands is available. A graduate of Dartmouth, master of fine arts, magna cum laude in Princeton in 1930.

He has performed distinguished excavation work at Corinth and at Athens. He was a Carnegie Fellow at Princeton, he belongs to the same class as Professor Meritt and is most promising.

Also the Emergency Committee in the Aid of Displaced Foreign Scholars is willing to supply \$2000 toward the salary of Professor Ernst Herzfeld in order to permit the Institute to offer him a professorship in the School of Humanistic Studies. Herzfeld is recognized as the foremost scholar in the field of Islamic Archeology of present day and one of the explorers in the field of Persian Archeology. He has extraordinary command of both the languages involved and also of the archeology and field methods.

Herzfeld's library, himself and his immense materials in preparation for publication are all at the present unlocated so that the setting of this great scholar in some place where he can finish his work in the course of the next ten years would seem to be a great contribution.

Professor Lowe was appointed professor of humanistic studies effective July 1, 1936 at \$10,000 with the usual provisions for pension. Professor W. A. Campbell was appointed professor of humanistic studies effective July 1, 1936 at \$6,000 with the usual provisions for pension.

Professor Ernst Herzfeld was appointed a professor of humanistic studies effective July 1, 1936 at \$4,000, one-half of which was to^b supplied for the year 1936-1937 by the Emergency Committee in the Aid of Displaced Foreign Scholars, with the

usual provisions for pension which the Institute and Herzfeld were to assume.
(Minutes, 1/27/36)

Vol. 2, No. 5

1936

1/27

HONORS AND DECORATIONS

Academic Personnel

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

GENERAL

Relations W.O.A.I.

The Director reports to the Board that Professor Alexander has been invited to lecture at the University of Cambridge during the summer and Professor von Neumann at the University of Paris. Professor Meritt "our young humanist" has been lecturing with distinguished success at Oxford during the past few months. The British Museum in London, the Bodleian Library at Oxford and the Fitzwilliam Museum at Cambridge have shown him unexampled kindness in giving him the opportunity to copy without charge the precious materials which they and they alone contain.

He also refers to Meritt's enormous collection of archeological materials in Athens which he has brought to Princeton for study.

The Director cites an official document issued by the University of Oxford dated Nov. 25, 1935: "The present time is opportune for making this first installment of the desired equipment of the projected addition to the Ashmolean Museum because Dr. Benjamin D. Meritt who has been giving instruction in epigraphy this term is about to provide for the Institute for Advanced Study in Princeton, New Jersey a similar set of

squeezes from the National Museum at Athens and has kindly undertaken to assist in supervising the provision of a duplicate set for Oxford...this is an exceptional opportunity for supplying the needs for a working equipment for advanced study in epigraphy at Oxford." (Minutes 1/27/36, pp. 7 & 8)

1936

1/31

SCHOOL OF HUMANISTIC STUDIES

Academic Organization

✓ ARCHEOLOGY (ANTIOCH)

Academic Activities

MOREY, C. R.

Biographical

CAMPBELL

Biographical

Letter from Morey to Flexner, January 31, 1936, regarding
Campbell's appointment.

Filed in Chronological file under 1936, 1/31.

D, Morey, C. R.

1936

4/23

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

PRINCETON UNIVERSITY

Relations WOAI

WILBER

Biographical

Morey to Flexner, April 23, 1936.

"I wish to thank you on behalf of the Department and your trustees as well, very sincerely, for the handsome program of grants made by the Institute in the field of art and archaeology for its School of Humanities."

Morey says he thinks the appointment of Wilber will be highly satisfactory to Herzfeld. Also welcomes Heckscher and Swarzenski, the former because of Panofsky's good opinion of him, and the latter because he has the reputation of being the best authority on illumination of the 13th and 14th centuries.

"The grant to Stillwell has rounded out our plans for Antioch in the event of the continuation of the dig, and Starr

will make with Wilber and Glidden a trio of students whom Herzfeld will find, I am sure, very stimulating pupils."

Flexner's response April 30, 1936, to Morey.

"I should like you to have on record my appreciation of the beautiful spirit of cooperation which you and Panofsky have developed." Compliments him on following the example of the two schools of mathematics.

D. Morey, C. R.

1936

7/13

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

BUILDINGS AND GROUNDS

Facilities

CAPPS, EDWARD

Biographical

MERITT

Flexner to Capps. On reaching Canada for a vacation has told Meritt that the humanists will be domiciled at 69 Alexander, and Capps should have a room to work with Meritt, Lowe, and the others .

Flexner says he hopes this suggestion will put an end to any idea Capps has of leaving Princeton.

The suggestion is warmly received by Capps (July 18, 1936, Ibid.) and says he hopes to remain in Princeton if he can find a place to live in.

This brings a response from Flexner (July 28) saying he and Ben want to help Capps find a place to live. Capps' wife is disabled.

On October 15, 1936, Flexner informed Capps that he had been appointed Visiting Professor, effective October 1, 1936, at \$2,400 a year honorarium, and informed Capps' sister, Mrs. C. H. Rammerkamp, Editor of the Illinois College Alumni Quarterly, of the appointment which was thereupon published in the quarterly.

D, Capps, Edward

1936

8/10

ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

GOLDMAN, HETTY

Biographical

BREASTED

FLEXNER, A.

Goldman to Flexner, August 10, 1936.

"You will, perhaps, remember that a good many years ago, you were kind enough to arrange for me to meet the late Prof. Breasted. Our meeting took place on the platform of a train in the Grand Central Station and although it was very brief, it was long enough for an interesting exchange of ideas. He told me then that he hoped sometime to excavate a site at which the Hittite civilization met the Greek and that if he did so, he would like to call upon me to head the undertaking. His intention, which remained unfulfilled has now actually been fulfilled by our work at Tarsus. For we found this year a sealed deposit in which there were both Hittite royal seals, a Hittite royal deed and Mycenaean pottery, much of which was imported from the Greek mainland. This is what archaeologists have been eagerly expecting of Tarsus and I think on the whole that it represents the most significant contribution of the 1936 campaign."

D File, Goldman, Hetty, 1936-1944

1936

11/5

SCHOOL OF HUMANISTIC STUDIES

Academic Organization

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

VEBLEN, O.

Biographical

FLEXNER, A.

GOLDMAN, HETTY

Veblen to Bailey.

Questions that in correcting the minutes whether Hetty Goldman was appointed professor. Thinks she was not.

IV-20

1936

11/7

SCHOOL OF HUMANISTIC STUDIES

Academic Organization

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

VEBLEN, O.

FLEXNER, A.

GOLDMAN, BETTY

Flexner to Veblen.

The proposals to the Board written out and in Mrs. Bailey's hands. He repeats them as they appear in the minutes. Capps was appointed visiting professor and Goldman as professor with an honorarium of \$200 a month, only because further funds were not available in the budget, and ~~xxx~~ she was eminently qualified for the appointment to professor.

File IV-20

1937

1/18

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

MERITT, B. D.

WADE-GERY

FLEXNER, A.

Academic Activities

Biographical

Meritt asked Flexner to invite Wade-Gery as Visiting Professor at \$6,000 for the year 1937-38. This was to assist Meritt in publishing important ephigraphical documents from the 5th century of Athens--the Athenian tribute-quota lists. Allen B. West had been collaborating with Meritt, he was Professor of History at the University of Cincinnati but had died. Wade-Gery was Professor at Wadham College, Oxford. The arrangement was made.

D, Wade-Gery, Prof. H. T., 1956-57

1931
March 23-May 1

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

GOLDMAN, HETTY

Biographical

MEMBERS

Publications

See Miss Goldman's report on the Excavations at Gözlü Kule, Tarsus,
March 23,-May 1.

D File, Goldman, Hetty, 1936-44

1937

4/19

SCHOOL OF HEBREW HUMANISTIC STUDIES

Academic Organization

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

GIFTS

Finance

GOLDMAN, HETTY

Biographical

An un-named graduate of Columbia and of the University of Heidelberg, has offered to underwrite Miss Goldman's work for the next four years at about \$50,000 ~~to~~ exact sum to be determined later. Flexner opines that this man might be a friend of the Institute, and he has money to leave it.

As to other possible gifts he says that patience is required because of the history of the Institute is a brief one. "We have only to live up to our ideals and trust to the thoughtful approbation of those who are interested in basic scholarship and research."

Trustees Minutes, 4/19/36, pp. 5-6

5/21

1937
✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

GIFTS

Finance

PLEXNER, A.

GOLDMAN, JULIUS

GOLDMAN, HETTY

Julius Goldman to Flexner, May 21, 1937, enclosing his check to Flexner's order for \$20,000 "as a gift to the Institute for Advanced Study of Princeton to be applied towards its activities in archaeological research in Tarsus, Turkey."

Flexner to Dr. Goldman, Julius, May 22, thanking him for the gift, "which will itself go far towards removing all pressure from your daughter and those associated with her, but I cannot accept this gift without expressing my profound gratification that you should live to see Hetty attain worldwide distinction and recognition, and I trust that for many years to come you may be enabled to follow with continuing satisfaction the upward progress of her career."

D File, Goldman, Hetty, 1936-1944

1937

11/12
11/15

✓ ARCHAEOLOGY

Academic Activities

HARVARD

Relations WOAI

BRYN MAWR

FLEXNER, A.

GOLDMAN, JULIUS

GOLDMAN, HETTY

Flexner to ~~us~~ Julius Goldman, November 12, 1937.

Informs him that since it is apparent Harvard will not cooperate further in financing the Tarsus work, a sum of \$7000 is involved. He does not say for what period of time. He thinks that Bryn Mawr makes a contribution of \$2500 when the work starts.

Goldman to Flexner, 11/¹⁵~~17~~/37.

Harvard will not cooperate any further, "and in fact during all of the years that Hetty has been excavating in the name of Harvard, that

institution has never contributed more than \$5,000 and all of the expenses connected with Hetty's work have been paid by me, including the cost of publication of Hetty's work made by Harvard."

Hetty's plans for the future cover four years requiring \$36,000. Bryn Mawr has committed itself to \$2,500 ~~PER ANNUM~~ a year for two years which together with Julius's contribution makes \$25,000. He does not know whether Bryn Mawr will continue to contribute. He believes the Archeological Institute of America will decide whether to pay something toward the costs, and thinks it will be about \$10,000, leaving \$1,000 to be made up. He does not wish to make any further contributions at the present time to the Institute, but in his will is leaving a provision that any amount needed to raise the \$36,000 will come out of his estate in the event of his death.

D File, Goldman, Hetty, 1936-1944

1938

2/7

GIFTS

Finance

FOUNDERS

Corperation

ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

GOLDMAN, BETTY

Biographical

FLEXNER, A.

Explaining what had evidently come up in a private conversation, Flexner writes to the founders about the references he had made to the anonymous gift received from a gentleman to support Miss Goldman's work.

D, Bamberger, Louis, 1937-1944

2/16

2/17

7/8

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

TAXATION

Government Relations

GOLDMAN, HETTY

Biographical

GOLDMAN, JULIUS

Julius Goldman to Flexner, February 16, 1938.

Goldman writes to ask whether or not the \$20,000 he contributed to the Institute for the excavations of his daughter are exempt from taxation on charity account.

Flexner replies, February 17, 1938, that the Institute is exempt from taxation as it is an institute operating in the field of higher education and without profit. Our imports in the way of books, and so on, are admitted free of duty because of the character of the Institute. Therefore, he concludes that Julius Goldman does not have to pay income tax on the amount contributed toward his daughter's excavations to the Institute.

D File, Goldman, Hetty, 1936-44

1938

5/3

✓ ARCHEOLOGY (TARSUS)

Academic Activities

GOLDMAN, HETTY

Biographical

GOLDMAN, JULIUS

FLEXNER, A.

Goldman to Flexner, May 3, 1938.

She acknowledges receipt of Bulletin No. 7 of the Institute, and says it filled her with surprise and "puzzled indignation." She writes personally to inform Flexner he has made a bad mistake in her judgment in not identifying her work at Tarsus with the Institute for Advanced Study. She ~~discloses that her father~~ admits that when her father became "an anonymous donor" with the excavation of Tarsus, she does not feel that this precluded identification of the excavation at Tarsus with the Institute. She informs Flexner, "When my Father decided no longer to make his gift through Harvard University, I urged him to come forward and make it personally. As all such enterprises must be supported by individuals of means, I saw no reason why he should not be known as part-supporter of my work. He has, however, always shunned publicity and so, without

in any way consulting me first, he made his offer to the Institute which you accepted. This...seemed to me appropriate that the Institute at which I am professor should be connected with what is and will remain for a number of years my chief interest and occupation. It is true that my Father stipulated that his name should not be mentioned, but I feel quite sure that he made no stipulation that the connection of the Institute with Tarsus should remain equally anonymous."

She notes also that the grant to Miss Day for study at Tarsus Islamic ceramics was made before she left Princeton, and though other holders of grants are specifically mentioned, her appointment too ~~was~~ is passed over. She cannot imagine that the Bulletin is hastily written. She writes in all friendliness, etc.

Her letter is acknowledged on May 18, 1938 by Miss Bailey who explains that only the material was embodied in the Bulletin which Miss Goldman, herself, submitted, and that this issue was not raised at that time.

D File, Goldman, Hetty, 1936-44

1938

5/3

SCHOOL OF HUMANISTIC STUDIES

Academic Personnel

✓ ARCHAEOLOGY

Academic Activities

GOLDMAN, HETTY

Biographical

FLEXNER, A.

Miss Goldman said she was furious at Flexner for not mentioning her father's gift in Bulletin #7 for Tarsus. When I replied Flexner had apparently not been released from promise of secrecy she calmed down. Then I asked her if disclosure was made subsequently--no; it wasn't. Should it be made now? No, she said. She said I. A. S. did not pay any expenses of excavation which took her one-half of each year, without which understanding she wouldn't have come to Institute. After all, she had Fogg. Her father had paid Fogg for costs of her work at Tarsus.

Interview with Hetty Goldman, 4/27/57

1938

6/30

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

GOLDMAN, HETTY

Biographical

GOLDMAN, JULIUS

~~XXXXXXXXXX~~ FLEXNER, A.

Flexner to Goldman, June 30, 1938

In reply to her letter of May 3, 1938, on the attribution to the Institute of her excavations at Tarsus. "I do not know precisely how to reply to your subsequent letter of May 3, to which Mrs. Bailey replied on May 18. Nothing would have given me more pleasure than to make any reference to your father or Tarsus that would please you and him, but he himself insisted on anonymity and therefore let me, as I thought, no alternative. As to an account of your work at Tarsus, I said nothing because you yourself, in reply to my request for a statement for the bulletin, made no specific mention of Tarsus. As Mrs. Bailey indicated, the annual bulletin is meant to be a modest statement by the professors themselves of what they are doing or planning. My part is wholly editorial, and even my editorial work is limited to piecing together the fragmentary statements which I receive in answer to my inquiries. I cannot therefore

feel that I am in any wise responsible for the omission of a specific reference to Tarsus, though I think it is a pity that no such reference was made."

D File, Goldman, Hetty, 1936-44

1938

11/29
12/6
12/7

BRYN MAWR

Relations WOAI

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

GOLDMAN, HETTY

Biographical

FLEXNER, A.

Goldman to Flexner, December 6, 1938.

Transmits copy of a letter from President Park, Bryn Mawr to Goldman dated November 29, 1938, informing Miss Goldman that Bryn Mawr will not be able to make good on its commitment of \$2500 for next year's excavations at Tarsus, and may be able to clear off "this year's indebtedness of \$1600." She outlines a long course of woes giving the reason why Bryn Mawr ~~cannot~~ must withdraw from its commitment. Miss Goldman expresses the opinion to Flexner that while she has become "almost shock-proof in these matters" she really is amazed at the letter. Flexner replies that, "somehow I cannot believe that Bryn Mawr is unable to live up to a modest engagement of the kind undertaken in reference to this excavation!"

D File, Goldman, Hetty, 1936-44

ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

GOLDMAN, HETTY

GOLDMAN, JULIUS

FLEXNER, A.

Flexner wires condolences to Miss Goldman on her father's death. There is in the file a copy of an affidavit without date except December, 1938, executed by Flexner confirming the fact that Julius Goldman sent to Flexner on May 22, 1937, a check for \$20,000 as a contribution to the Institute for Advanced Study. "Said Julius Goldman advised me that he desired such contribution to be anonymous and requested me to exchange such check for my own check to the order of the said Institute." Flexner complied

D File, Goldman, Hetty, 1936-44

1939-1941

SCHOOL OF HUMANISTIC STUDIES

Academic Organization

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

ART

AYDELOTTE, F.

Biographical

FLEXNER, A.

Flexner informed Morey on October 7, 1939, of his resignation. (See Morey's letter not in this file), and thereafter on November 20 which Morey asked whether Aydelotte, Flexner, Panofsky, and himself were to have a conference in the near future in the interests of Princeton's departmental recommendations. (November 20, 1939). But Flexner had gone south, and thereafter December 15, Aydelotte said he had studied the budget and regretted that it would not be possible to make financial provision for Capps for second half of the academic year 1939-40, though he hoped it would be possible to give it in the budget for the second term of the next academic year. He promised information later. Morey followed up on December 18 with a request for specific information about Campbell and Stillwell,

saying that the Institute contemplated carrying the men for Antioch and the publication of its results part time while Wellesley, in the case of Campbell, and Princeton, in the case of Stillwell, made up the other half. There was only an informal and unwritten agreement regarding Stillwell, and he is apprehensive.

Meanwhile, apparently the Carnegie Corporation delayed on its part of the subvention (See note E. S. B., April 25).

On May 18, 1940, (Ibid.) Aydelotte informed Morey that the list for stipends in the School of Humanistic Studies for the next academic year would be: Bernheimer, Capps Jr., de Tolnay, Downey, Frankl, Hoey, Holland, Raubitschek, Starr, ~~Stikinkait~~ (Guggenheim Fellowship), Stillwell, Tedesco. Unable to find a stipend for Professor Ward. Aydelotte said he was writing a letter "in order that you may have a written memorandum since I feel that these individuals are as much your appointments as ours." Morey replied with thanks, and acknowledged a telephone communication that Downey's salary had been raised to \$2100 by the Institute.

hist
abund

Shpetshilin 1940-41

Bankova

Capps IV

de Tolomey

Down

F. v. v. v.

(Horn)

(Hall)

Abkhazoid

Stam (Sperk)

St-Numer

F. v. v. v.

On March 31, 1941, Morey said Panofsky had informed him that Panofsky said the Institute was considering increasing the stipend for de Tolnay at the Institute, and Morey supports any such action, saying that de Tolnay's work has been of excellent quality, and his drawings of Michelangelo should be a very fine thing for the Institute to sponsor. Also de Tolnay ~~is~~ needs another year or two of Americanization at the Institute before he goes out into the academic world. "It is difficult to become proficient in American English if you have a charming wife who speaks only Italian."

Aydelotte to Morey, April 5, (Ibid) enclosing for Morey's confidential information a report which he had made to the Board of Trustees on the "School of Economics". He was preparing a similar report on the School of Humanistic Studies using material furnished him by the various members of the humanistic group. "You have played so large a part in our work that I should be most grateful for any notes which you could furnish me on short notice about the work being done, its relation to Princeton University, and especially about the work of the Antioch excavations."

On March 31, 1941, Morey said Panofsky had informed him that Panofsky said the Institute was considering increasing the stipend for de Tolnay at the Institute, and Morey supports any such action, saying that de Tolnay's work has been of excellent quality, and his drawings of Michelangelo should be a very fine thing for the Institute to sponsor. Also de Tolnay ~~leaves~~ needs another year or two of Americanization at the Institute before he goes out into the academic world. "It is difficult to become proficient in American English if you have a charming wife who speaks only Italian."

Aydelotte to Morey, April 5, (Ibid) enclosing for Morey's confidential information a report which he had made to the Board of Trustees on the "School of Economics". He was preparing a similar report on the School of Humanistic Studies using material furnished him by the various members of the humanistic group. "You have played so large a part in our work that I should be most grateful for any notes which you could furnish me on short notice about the work being done, its relation to Princeton University, and especially about the work of the Antioch excavations."

He wants the information by April 7. Morey complied on April 10, and Aydelette acknowledged it saying that he could not possibly have got the kind of information Morey ~~g~~ gave him from the members of the Institute faculty, and was gratified that Morey found the contribution of the Institute professors to the University valuable. "...I hasten to assure you that I depend greatly on your advice and assistance in the general organization and direction of our work.

D, Morey, G. R.

1939

1/1

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

ROCKEFELLER, JOHN D., JR.

MERITT

CAPPS

SHEAR, T. L.

Academic Activities

Biographical

Biographical

Biographical

Biographical

Meritt to Flexner, January 1, 1939.

Four mentioned have been made honorary members of the
Greek Archeological Society.

D, Meritt

1939

2/9

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

GENERAL

Publications

MERITT, B. D.

Biographical

Meritt to Flexner.

A memorandum on the transfer of the publication of the journal Hesperia, THE annual volume of the American School of Classical Studies at Athens published since 1932, from Vienna where volumes 1 to 7 were published to Princeton, New Jersey for the benefit of unified editing and safety.

D File, Benjamin Meritt

1939

10/2

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

IAS became a member of Archeological Institute of America

File D Arch. Inst. of America

1940

1/20

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

MOREY

Biographical

CAMPBELL

STILLWELL

FLEXNER, A.

CAPPS

AYDELOTTE, F.

Aydelotte to Flexner, January 20, 1940.

Asks Flexner if the Institute is committed for the three years 1939-42 to Campbell and Stillwell. If the Institute is, we must fulfill the obligation, but since they cannot pursue the excavations at Antioch in war-time perhaps Campbell should go back to full-time teaching at Wellesley and Stillwell to Princeton, thus interrupting our contributions until it is possible for the excavations to go forward. If the funds of the

Institute are used up, and the excavations are not done, Morey will have to find funds elsewhere to carry on the actual work for which the Institute's pledge was made.

Aydelotte suggests instead of carrying on the men half-time a cash contribution of \$5,000 per year for the two years 1940-42, leaving it to Morey how he spends it. He is not speaking to Morey until Flexner informs him.

He raises another question about Capps. Capps' wife was very ill two or three years ago, and he began ~~xxx~~ spending most of his time at home. Since her death he has spent very little time at the Institute, "so that our payment to him becomes largely a pension." Great as he is in American classicism, Aydelotte does not think this situation is warranted.

Flexner's letter is not in the file answering this.

Completed ^{on this} ~~by~~ 1942-3 \$11,000 ~~disposed~~ after 1941-2

D File, Abraham, Flexner

1941

4/18

SCHOOL OF HUMANISTIC STUDIES

Academic Organization

EPIGRAPHY

Academic Activities

✓ ARCHAEOLOGY

ORIENTAL STUDIES

PALEOGRAPHY

POLICIES

Administration

*Spitt,
Lowe;*

*Kernfeld
Punsky*

Biographical

Unsigned ribbon / copy of memorandum directed to the
Director from the faculty of the School of Humanistic Studies,
April 18, 1941.

"The Institute as we of the humanist faculty understand it,
was designed primarily as a center for research where a
scholar could devote all his time to the pursuit of his
particular investigation, undisturbed by administrative duties
and unhampered by teaching, except of pupils of his own choice."
Granting that methods of research and work are individual and
are so-recognized, it is essential that professors have the means

"for inviting suitable young assistants to collaborate with us and mature colleagues with whom to exchange ideas. This is perhaps the most fruitful use to which our ~~instn~~ Institute can be put. The second way of proving his usefulness is by publication; for this it is necessary to have the appropriate means."

School of Humanistic Studies must have enough ~~money~~ money for funds to invite assistants and members and to publish.

Another question of Institute policy: Meritt, Lows, Hersfeld have had to spend years and money collecting their particular libraries of material. ~~Within the history of fine~~
"While it is a known fact that the study of the history of fine arts is adequately supported and well represented in our universities and colleges, research in prehistoric archaeology and Oriental culture, and as well as in epigraphy and paleography, have only a precarious footing in our larger universities and are utterly neglected in our colleges. Yet the latter two subjects form the very foundation for other

5 lines
Prehistoric
arch -
oriental
culture
epigraphy
& paleo

fields of study and are therefore basic. ^{The} ~~The~~ question of policy, then, is this: should the Institute consciously strive to be a real center for these fundamental and specialized subjects and plan for their continuation when the present incumbents of these chairs are no longer in the Institute?"

The memorandum then likens the potential position of the Institute in future as the sheltering place for learning as was Monte Cassino in its shelter in the critical fifth century.

Hit gets more + Pan-American during Florida Regime

(This is clearly an attack on ~~pan-america~~ by Meritt, Lowe, and Hersfeld. Correspondence on S. H. S. involving Morey usually was with ~~xxx~~ between Morey, Panofsky and Flexner. Meritt does not figure much in it.)

*Handwritten
D SHS*

*This was sent with covering letter from Morey to G. 4/18/41. Letter stated the memo contained first of remarks at SHS for mtg, and have send it at their request believing A will sympathize and lend all support to views.
(A 15/15/56 BI SHS)*

D, Humanistic Studies (School of) (Correspondence, Memoranda, etc.)

1941

4/18

HERZFELD

Biographical

✓ ARCHEOLOGY (IRANIAN)

Academic Activities

Herzfeld to Aydelotte, April 18, 1941 giving his present program of work at the Institute.

Filed in Chronological File under 1941, April 18.

S File, Economics & Politics, Reports, Memos, 1947-48

1941

4/18

(IRANIAN)

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

HERZFELD, E.

Biographical

Copy of Report to Aydelotte by Herzfeld on current work at I.A.S.
See S File General 1939-42.

S File General 1939-42

1944

7/5

MEMBERS

Publications

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

RAUBITSCHEK

Biographical

Aydelotte to Archeological Institute of America:

IAS contributed \$3000 to publication of Raubitschek's book on Dedications of Athenian Acropolis.

D Archeological Institute of America

1944

9/18

PARTICIPATION IN ADMINISTRATION

Academic Personnel

PRINCETON UNIVERSITY

Relations WGA1

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

Princeton Society of Archeological Institute of America
declined use of common room for lectures this year with thanks.

Faculty Minutes, 9/18/44

4/15

SCHOOL OF HUMANISTIC STUDIES

Academic Organization

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

~~GLUECK, NELSON~~

Biographical

ALBRIGHT, WILLIAM F.

Nelson Glueck, American School of Oriental Research,
Jerusalem, Palestine, to Hetty Goldman.

An appraisal of William F. Albright of the Johns Hopkins University--one of the greatest living scholars in the entire general field of Near Eastern Oriental studies and archaeology; One of the greatest scholars that has ever labored in this field; one of the greatest scholars in Semitic philology that western civilization has had. In Assyrian, Babylonian, Ungaritic, Hebrew and Egyptian studies he has made pronounced and invaluable contributions. The list of his publications in these fields would cover literally hundreds of titles. He has been a great Palestinian archaeologist. He excavated at Tell Beit Mirsim, but he has been more than a Palestinian archaeologist. "He has known how to synthesize the results of archaeological and historical investigation in all the lands bordering Palestine. And he has been able to synthesize those results also as an

historian of great ability. He has trained a whole school of younger scholars, imparting to each of them a love for science, a passion for exactitude and thoroughness, and a painstaking methodology. His influence on Near Eastern studies in their narrowest and broadest interpretations will live long after him through the scholars he has trained."

He is a man of large sympathies, keen humor, great generosity.

School of Humanistic Studies File II

1945

12/31

/ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

WADE-GERY

Biographical

Invited by the Institute to perform as Visiting Professor
academic year 1947-48. (Aydelotte to Wade-Gery, December 31, 1945)

The same file shows an invitation to Wade-Gery to spend
the academic year 1956-57 at \$6,000 at the Institute

D, Wade-Gery, Prof. H. T., 1956-57

1946

11/18

PARTICIPATION IN ADMINISTRATION

Academic Personnel

THOMPSON

Biographical

SCHOOL OF HISTORICAL STUDIES

Academic Organization

ALBRIGHT

Biographical

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

SCHOOL OF HUMANISTIC STUDIES

Academic Organization

SCHOOL OF MATHEMATICS

For a memorandum on the above headings, see memo of same date which is filed under the date or the first four headings.

Faculty Minutes 11/18/46

1946

12/13

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

GIFTS

Finance

Mrs. T. Leslie Shear has given the Institute a valuable collection of slides illustrating the archaeological history of Athens.

D, Faculty Minutes, December 13, 1946

1949

12 11/9

ART

Academic Activities

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

PRINCETON UNIVERSITY

Relations WQAI

LIBRARY

Facilities

Department of Art and Archeology,
Bellwin Smith/to Panofsky, November 9, 1949.

Acknowledges gratefully a \$500 annual appropriation for
the purchase of art historical books from the Institute.

D, Princeton University Library

1955

3/17

MEMBERS

Publications

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

GOLDMAN, HETTY

Biographical

BAILEY, HERBERT S., JR.

Herbert S. Bailey, Jr. of the Princeton University Press to
Oppenheimer to publish Volume II of Tarsus, 400 copies, \$14,000 tax from
Institute for Advanced Study, cost of manufacturing. Sell volume at \$36
and Press keeps proceeds from sale of first 150 copies.

D File, Goldman, Hetty, 1948

1955

Nov.

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

ARCHEOLOGICAL INSTITUTE OF AMERICA (Prince. Society) Relations W.O.A.I.

The Society accedes to 2 conditions laid down by RO for use of Common Room:
notification to him of dates of lectures and meetings, and freedom of members of IAS
to attend meetings.

File D Arch. Inst. of America

1955

12/16

ROCKEFELLER

Foundations

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

Academic Activities

STIPENDS

Academic Personnel

MEMBERS

PARTICIPATION IN ADMINISTRATION

GENERAL

Academic Procedures

FLENNER, A.

Biographical

MERRITT, B.

AYDELOTTE, P.

Interview with Professor Meritt, 12/16/55.

Filed in Vertical File under Interviews.

Interview with Professor Meritt, 12/16/55

✓ ARCHAEOLOGY

ROCKEFELLER

CARNEGIE INSTITUTE

LOWE, E. A.

Academic Activities

Foundations

Biographical

Lowe's statement on sources of financial support for CLA.

Filed under Biographical, Lowe, E. A.

Letter from Lowe to Beatrice M. Stern, 1/23/56

1956

5/28

ART

Academic Activities

✓ ARCHEOLOGY

FACULTY

Academic Personnel

MEMBERS

DEGREES

PRINCETON

Relations WOAI

LIBRARY

Facilities

LEE, RENSSELAER

Biographical

MOREY

PANOPSKY

de TOLNAY

Interview with Rensselaer Lee, May 28, 1956.

Filed in Vertical File under Lee Interviews.

DIRECTOR
✓ ARCHEOLOGY
PRINCETON
TEACHING
MEMBERS

assistants

AYDELOTTE
MERITT, B. D.
FLEXNER, A.
DAUNCEY, MRS.
CLEMENT
SHOE
GERY, WADE
DE TOLNAY
KANTOROWICZ
CHERNISS
THOMPSON
PANOFSKY
FRANKL
HERZFELD
LOWE
CAPPS
SIEGEL

Administration
Academic Activities
Relations WOAI
Academic Procedures
Academic Personnel

Biographical
Biographical

Interview with Professor Meritt, June 7, 1956.
Filed in Vertical File under Meritt Interviews.

1956

6/14

✓ ARCHEOLOGY (AMERICAN SCHOOL OF
CLASSICAL STUDIES AT ATHENS)
ROCKEFELLER

CAPPS, ROBERTA EDWARD

SHOE, LUCY

MERRITT, B. D.

~~MORGAN, CHARLES~~
CLEMENT, PAUL

Academic Activities

Foundations

Biographical

Interview with Miss Lucy Shoe, June 14, 1956.

Filed in Vertical File under Shoe Interviews.

Interview with Miss Shoe, 6/14/56

1956

11/23

ARCHAEOLOGY

Academic Activities

Interview with Homer Thompson, at tea, November 23, 1956.

Filed in Vertical File under Thompson Interviews.

Interview with Homer Thompson, November 23, 1956

1957

6/7

✓ ARCHAEOLOGY (1, 2)

Academic Activities

SCHOOL OF HUMANISTIC STUDIES (1)

Academic Organization

SCHOOL OF MATHEMATICS (2)

PRINCETON UNIVERSITY (1, 2, 3)

Relations WOI

GOLDMAN, HETTY (1, 2, 3)

Biographical

FLEXNE, A. (1, 2, 3)

ALEXANDER (2)

EINSTEIN (2)

OPPENHEIMER (2)

MOREY (2, 3)

Interview with Miss Hetty Goldman, June 7, 1957.

Filed in Vertical File under Goldman Interviews.

6/27

1957
FOUNDERS (1, 4, 5)

BUILDINGS AND GROUNDS (1)

PARTICIPATION IN ADMINISTRATION (2, 3)

APPOINTMENTS (4, 5, 6)

ECONOMICS (4)

✓ ARCHAEOLOGY (4)

GENERAL (4)

SCHOOL OF HUMANISTIC STUDIES (4, 6)

SCHOOL OF MATHEMATICS (6)

GOLDMAN (1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6)

AYDELOTTE (1, 3, 4)

HOUGHTON (1)

OPPENHEIMER (2)

VEBIEN (3, 6)

MORSE (3)

FLEXNER (4, 5, 6)

THOMPSON (4)

BAMBERGER, LOUIS (5)

BAMBERGER, LAVINIA (5)

MERRITT (4)

PANOPSKY (6)

DE TOLNAY (6)

Einstein (1, 2, 3, 6)

Interview with Hetty Goldman, June 27, 1957.

Filed in Vertical File under Goldman Interviews.

Corporation

Facilities

Academic Personnel

Academic Activities

Finance

Academic Organization

Biographical